
Local Access Forum  - 11 April 2019 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear LAF Member

A meeting of the LOCAL ACCESS FORUM will be held in THE CONFERENCE 
ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON 
THURSDAY, 11TH APRIL, 2019 AT 2.00 PM when your attendance is requested.

Notes:

Tea and coffee facilities will be provided from 1.30pm – please help yourself

It will be assumed that all papers and documents distributed in advance of 
the meeting have been read.

1 WELCOME, INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES  (CHAIRMAN)
 

To receive apologies for absence.

2 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF 6TH MEETING HELD ON 
10TH JANUARY 2019 (CHAIRMAN) (Pages 3 - 8)

To authorise the Chairman to sign the minutes as a true record of the previous 
meetings

3 MATTERS ARISING NOT OTHERWISE APPEARING ON AGENDA 
(CHAIRMAN) 

4 FUNDING FOR ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY IN THE BBNP 
(PAUL SINNADURAI) 

5 DRAFT RIGHTS OF WAY IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
CONSULTATION (EIFION JONES) (Pages 9 - 38)

Public Document Pack



Local Access Forum  - 11 April 2019 2

6 ACTIVE AGEING (ILONA CARATI, BBNPA) 

7 ANNUAL REPORT (RICHARD BALL) (Pages 39 - 56)

8 LLYN Y FAN FACH ACCESS (JUDITH HARVEY) 

9 LAF CHAIRS MEETING (CHAIRMAN) 

10 NATIONAL ACCESS FOR WALES UPDATE (STEVE RAYNER) 

11 RIGHTS OF WAY DIVERSIONS (EIFION JONES) 

12 LAF MEMBER RECRUITMENT (RICHARD BALL) 

13 ANY OTHER COMPETENT BUSINESS (CHAIRMAN) 

Any other business as is, in the opinion of the Chairman, of such urgency as to 
warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Richard Ball – 
Richard.Ball@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

mailto:Richard.Ball@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Local Access Forum 1 10 January 2019

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY LOCAL 
ACCESS FORUM HELD AT BRECON SUBUD HALL ON THURSDAY, 10TH 
JANUARY, 2019

Present

Ian Mabberley (IM) - Chairman
Richard Ball (RB) - Secretary
Pam Bell (PB)
Philippa Cherryson (PC)
Stuart France (SF)
Debra Hughes (DH)
Ian Jenkins (IJ)

Hywel Morgan (HM)
Denis Murphy (DM)
Steve Rayner (SR)
Dave Sharman (DS)
Chris Waterhouse (ChW)
Katherine Whitrow (KW)
Colin Woodley (CW)

Observers
John Morgan (JM) National Representative of LAF Chairs
Cllr Edwin Roderick BBNPA Member
Ian Rowat                             BBNPA Member
Fiona Ford Torfaen CBC/Eastern Valleys LAF
Sarah Tindell (ST) Natural Resources Wales (NRW)
Eifion Jones (EJ) Rights of Way Officer BBNPA (Item 5)
Lisa Lloyd Rights of Way Assistant BBNPA 
James Lawrence (JL) Visitor Management Officer BBNPA (Item 4)
Caroline Ferguson Carmarthenshire CC/Carmarthenshire LAF
Mark Hadley Chair Carmarthenshire LAF
Judith Harvey Warden Manager BBNPA (Item 10)
Tony D’anna Crickhowell Town Council

67 Welcome, introductions and apologies (Chairman) 

IM welcomed members and observers to the meeting. Apologies were received from 
Patrick Dobbs, Josie Pearson, Tracy Purnell, Paul Sinnadurai, Toby Veall, Ruth Pickford 
and Richard Tyler (BBNPA)

68 Confirmation of Minutes of 5th Meeting held on 13th September 2018 
(Chairman) 

The minutes were accepted and the Chairman authorised to sign them as a correct 
record.

69 Matters Arising Not Otherwise Appearing on Agenda (Chairman) 

BBNPA budget – In the past the BBNPA has received additional funding from Welsh 
Government (WG) towards the end of the financial year. RB advised members that the 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Local Access Forum 2 10 January 2019

BBNPA were waiting for a decision on additional funding for this year. Julian Atkins (JA) is 
meeting with WG tomorrow. Members supported RB’s suggestion that the LAF email JA 
to stress the importance of getting a decision in time for the funds to be spent by the end 
of the financial year or confirmation that WG would allow the money to be rolled over 
into the next financial year. IM agreed to send an email.
 
 
Access restriction at Mynydd Ddu Forest - ST confirmed that NRW had revised the 
guidance.
 
Car parking at Pont ar Daf – LAF to write to National Trust.

70 Waterfall Country Visitor Traffic Study (James Lawrence/Richard Tyler) 

JL provided members with an update on the progress of the study. A report has been 
published and went out to public consultation between 15th November and 7th January 
2019. The report is aimed at addressing the traffic management issues in the area and was 
commissioned by the BBNPA on behalf of local authorities, Ystradfellte Community 
Council and NRW. JL invited comments from members before 20th January 2019.
 
Members discussed a number of issues. 
SF expressed concern that the traffic data was collected over the August bank holiday 
weekend on what was expected to be the busiest day of the year and this provided just a 
snapshot at various locations. SF said that he is happy to share data and notes from 
vehicle counters that his company have collected at the Dinas Rock car park since 2012, 
the data provides the ‘long view’ and helps illustrate the significant day to day variability it 
is also indicative of the overall Waterfalls Area. JL appreciated that the vehicle numbers 
fluctuated during the year and the study collated data on that date to capture the worst 
case scenario so that facilities could be investigated that would cope with the projected 
peak numbers.
 
Members stressed the need for integrated transport in order to reduce the numbers of 
cars in the area. KW asked if the study had considered integrated transport that created 
loops taking in other visitor attractions in the area such as Dan yr Ogof Caves. JL 
responded stating that examining public transport would form part of the next phase of 
the project. 
 
PB added that toilet facilities should be considered when attempting to distribute parking, 
she suggested that the toilet facilities at Cwm Porth Car Park were one of the reasons 
that people parked there. JL agreed and said that during the peak season of 2018 portable 
toilets were provided at Gwaun Hepste Car Park.
 
PC suggested that the Gunpowder Works project could potentially become a popular 
visitor attraction in Pontneddfechan creating more traffic. The study doesn’t appear to 
take this into consideration. JL suggested that the Gunpowder works project looked to 
preserve heritage for the community and future generations rather than specifically to 
become a tourist attraction.
 
RB was concerned that the report doesn’t give any indication of the costs for the 
proposals. For example the report suggested developing parking in Penderyn and 

Page 4



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Local Access Forum 3 10 January 2019

promoting the footpath to Sgwd yr Eira and states that the route would need substantial 
upgrading to accommodate the footfall, however, the report does not give any indication 
of the costs of footpath improvements.

71 Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan Consultation (Eifion Jones) 

EJ provided members with an update. The draft ROWIP is currently out to consultation 
which ends on 17th March 2019. Any negative comments received would be brought to 
the next LAF meeting. PC thanked EJ for making the changes around bridleways and horse 
riding that were suggested at the last meeting.

72 Step Changes ENRAW application (Clare Parsons) 

Clare parsons, BBNPA Sustainable Development Manager, attended the meeting to 
provide a summary of the grant bid submitted to WG. 
The project is a partnership between BBNPA, Brecon Beacons Park Society and Cardiff 
University. The proposed Step Changes project aims to enable a greater understanding, 
enjoyment and access to the National Park for a wider range of users with the potential 
to benefit their health and wellbeing. It will address physical, information, confidence and 
perceptual barriers to do so. The project budget over 3 years is approx. £900,000 and 
seeking £700,000 from ENRAW. Hope to receive a decision from WG in March.
 
CP agreed to forward an overview of the project to members.
 
FF stressed how important the traineeships element of the grant is for people to access 
countryside related careers.  
 
RB added that the project would look to expand on the Miles without Stiles project and 
remove barriers to accessing the countryside by changing people’s perceptions and giving 
people confidence.
 
DM suggested contacting the cardiac rehabilitation programme that is being run in 
Abergavenny.

73 Welsh LAF Joint meeting feedback (Chairman) 

IM introduced John Morgan (JM), National Representative of Welsh LAF Chairs. JM gave a 
brief summary of the issues discussed at the meeting of the Chairs of Welsh Access 
Forums meeting held in November. The issues discussed included ROWIP’s, RoW issues 
on NRW land, LAF relationship with NRW and recommended amendments to LAF 
regulations. 
 
Arising from discussions around Area Statements, IM asked ST if NRW would give a 
presentation to the LAF.

74 Black Mountains Rangers (Matt Kersley) 

The Black Mountains Rangers gave their apologies as they were unable to make the 
meeting due to unforeseen circumstances.

Page 5



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Local Access Forum 4 10 January 2019

75 Bryn Arw woodland creation site visit  (Chairman) 

IM provided a summary of the site visit to Bryn Arw, where a number of LAF members 
met with the applicant to look at the planting area and discuss the proposal. 
PB said that she supported the proposal but stressed that access needs to be provided in 
the new fence line. PC added that although she couldn’t make the site meeting, she has 
since been to look at the area and supports the application. 
HM was concerned that planting on Common land could set a precedent, RB added that 
this application was unusual as there are so few graziers. KW thought that precedent had 
already been set where MOD land in Cumbria had been planted.
 
Members agreed to support the application subject to conditions.
 
KW questioned if the LAF had been consulted on the WG’s ‘Achieving our low-carbon 
pathway to 2010’ consultation. Land use and forestry proposals include 66,000 hectares of 
tree planting, 90% of which is to come from large plantations, a 50% increase in 
afforestation in Wales. KW considered this amount of tree planting would have an effect 
on RoW and access and thought this should be something that the LAF was aware of.
 
It was agreed to add this to the agenda for the next meeting.

76 Llyn y Fan Fach access (Judith Harvey) 

JH gave a PowerPoint presentation showing photographs at points along the track. She 
explained the work that had taken place to improve car parking and access and highlighted 
the opportunities for improved access to open up the track allowing disabled access. 
Members discussed the options for improving access adjacent to the fisheries.
 
Tom Packham, Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW), has stated that he would be happy 
to discuss improvements but said that all stakeholders would need to be happy with the 
proposals.
 
Members agreed to support the principle of improved access at Llyn Y Fan and for the 
LAF to write directly to DCWW directly in the first instance.

77 Any Other Competent Business (Chairman) 

DH asked if the LAF had been informed about the Original Mountain Marathon (OMM) 
Event held in the Black Mountains in October. There had been issues where competitors 
were using areas of land that they shouldn’t have been on. She had been in contact with 
organisers to raise the issue. IM confirmed that the LAF had been consulted and had given 
their support.
 
PC had met with NRW Woodland Officer and they had confirmed that there is no 
compulsion on the landowner to keep access clear if the route is not a RoW. RB added 
that on CROW access land there was no duty on landowner to keep the route clear but 
that BBNPA (as CROW Access Authority) could negotiate access improvements. If there 
is a specific location details can be forwarded to RB to look into.
 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Local Access Forum 5 10 January 2019

KW asked if the LAF could look at the Summit to Sea project at the next LAF meeting as 
it may reach the boundaries of the National park.
 
Tony D’anna, Crickhowell Town Council, raised the issue of proposed fencing around the 
grounds of Crickhowell High School. He pointed out the impact it would have on public 
access and possibly a RoW but said that there are legitimate issues around the safety of 
the children.
DM added that there were similar issues at the high school in Abergavenny.
 
Date of the next meeting
11th April 2019, Venue to be confirmed.

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Local Access Forum

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 10 

 
 
 

Natural Resources Wales’ Response to Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sarah Tindal, Recreation and Partnerships Officer 

Carys Drew, Access and Recreation Advisor 
 
With input from staff across Natural Resources Wales (NRW) 
 
Approved by 
 
 

 
Steve Morgan Head of operations South East 
22/03/19 
  

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 5



Page 2 of 10 

1. Introduction  
 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW) is the principal environmental advisor to Welsh Government and others, and Wales’ principal 
environmental regulator, with a purpose to pursue sustainable management of natural resources (SMNR) across all its functions. 
 
We welcome this opportunity to contribute to and comment on the draft ROWIP for the Brecon Beacons National Park. 
 
We are responding as a statutory consultee under section 60 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act (CRoW). In making our 
comments we have considered Welsh Government’s requirements in terms of content and procedure set out in the statutory 
‘Guidance for Local Authorities on Rights of Way Improvement Plans’, July 2016 (ROWIP Guidance). 
 
The ROWIP consultation is relevant to several matters which fall within our remit and our response has sought to advise on those 
areas where relevant. 
 
NRW manages 7% of land in Wales on behalf of the people of Wales, including 120,000ha of woodland, 42 National Nature 
Reserves and five Visitor Centres.  This is a significant public asset and it is our priority to make this asset available, attractive and 
welcoming to people.  We recognise that by working together we can ensure the greatest social, environmental and economic 
benefits to the people of Wales. 1 
 
As evident in your ROWIP there are many important connections to other plans.  In relation to the implementation of the 
Environment Act, Area Statements are currently being developed and are expected to be completed in 2020 and will be relevant to 
your ROWIP delivery plans. 
 

In supporting broader objectives, such as achievement of the Wellbeing Goals and delivering Area Statements, we can see that the 
development and delivery of ROWIPs will complement our aim for recreational access to the outdoors: more people enjoying the 
outdoors more often 2 through: 
 

• Better integrating access opportunities in the wider area: access resources in the right place (to meet people’s needs) 
• Maximise the recreational benefits from land we manage and link to – to us and others 
• Supporting ‘sustainable development principles’ and ways of working 
• Helping develop the 10-year plans – covering all areas of Wales.  

                                            
1 Our Guiding Principles: community involvement in the land managed by NRW 
2 Outdoor Recreation and Access Enabling Plan 

P
age 10



Page 3 of 10 

• The Plans providing a delivery mechanism for Wellbeing Plans and Area Statements 
• Contributing to strong working relationships between local authority and NRW staff, with opportunities for future working 

identified 
 
In contributing to the NPA’s ROWIP, we seek to improve the recreational access resources we manage and their integration with 
the wider network, maximising awareness and promotion of the resources we offer and those of the area more broadly for local 
people and visitors.   In practical terms we can: 
 

• Contribute useful information and data about NRW’s recreational access resources to inform the NPA’s ROWIP Action Plan 
and implementation plans.   

• Advise in relation to functions within our remit 

• Establish discussions between relevant NRW staff, such as NRW’s land managers on the forestry estate and NNRs, and the 
NPA’s Public Rights of Way and access staff 

• Support strategic links e.g. to Public Service Boards and Area Statements 
 
We remind you that the preparation of your ROWIP falls under Article 2(a) of the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
Directive.  A failure to screen the plan against the need for SEA would leave the subsequent adoption of your plan open to 
challenge in the event that SEA had been required for that plan.  Should you choose not to follow this advice, then you should add a 
paragraph to the RoWIP either justifying why you haven’t undertaken SEA and/or justifying why you have not undertaken an SEA 
screening exercise. 
 
If, and where, needed, NRW can facilitate provision of screening opinions where requested for SEA and HRA. 
 

2. NRW’s Response 
 

2.1  Content and procedure: 

 
 
2.1.1 Broadly, the ROWIP is based on very comprehensive assessments and is a clear, evidence-based plan which meets the 

requirements set out in the WG guidance. The content and tone of the document is in accordance with what we would expect 
from a ROWIP.  We consider this plan will enable the NPA to plan, prioritise and target limited resources whilst giving the 
greatest public benefit by delivering across multiple policy areas and integrating with other services, in line with WG 
aspirations.  

  

P
age 11



Page 4 of 10 

2.1.2 We welcome the decision to produce a dedicated plan for the BBNP, given the number of constituent authorities.  We can 
see that you have set out the arrangements on page 13 in response to the Welsh Government Guidance and have 
acknowledged the need to work jointly with highway authorities who should continue to have active involvement. 

 
2.1.3 In order for ROWIPs to be as accessible as possible to the public, they should be clear, structured and well-reasoned, so that 

there is a logical progression from needs identified in the assessment informing the strategic commitments in the statement 

of action which can then be refined into focused details within the delivery plan and we feel your ROWIP delivers this.  

 

2.1.4 The statement of action clearly reflects the earlier priorities identified in the document and the wording is clear and realistic, 

setting priorities in context for future prioritisation.  The estimated cost indicators are also helpful and appropriate for this level 

of detail.  

 

 

2.2 Matters within NRW’s remit: 
 

 
2.2.1 NRW Managed Land 
 
2.2.2 The ROWIP makes specific reference to issues relating to NRW managed land.  These are referenced and shown in italics 

with our response below: 
 

2.2.3 P43 2.67 It is understood that large sections of the Welsh Government woodland estate are subject to a concordat between Natural 

Resources Wales as the managing agency, and the British Horse Society, which provides permissive access for horse riders. At the time of 

writing this draft no information was forthcoming as the extent of this provision. This provision is potentially very useful to members of 

the public given that opportunities for horse riders within the National Park are limited and connectivity and status change issues are 

high (see Part 3).  

 

2.2.4 The BBNPA understand correctly that NRW and the BHS have a mutually agreed concordat, setting out our collaborative 
approach to horse-riding.  To clarify, this applies to permissive access on forest roads and tracks on NRW managed freehold 
estate and not generally to leasehold estate, which includes Welsh Water land.   

 

P
age 12



Page 5 of 10 

2.2.5 During the latter stages of 2018 and early 2019 the Concordat has been under review by both parties and is currently 
awaiting final sign off by our respective Chief Executives. NRW and the BHS have held a Concordat since the inception of 
NRW, building on our legacy body Concordats which were negotiated and agreed at GB level. 

 
 
2.2.6 Proposed Action P55 viii) encourage Natural Resources Wales to provide and share an easily accessible map showing the extent of Welsh 

Government woodland estate that is subject to permissive access by horse riders  

 

2.2.7 We recognise the limitations of our current mapped (spatial) provision for access and recreational opportunities available to 
the public. Whilst we would point out that Public Rights of Way are available through our ‘Days Out’ map 
(https://naturalresources.wales/days-out/places-to-visit/?lang=en click on the map banner at top of page), and that ‘horse 
riding’ can be selected as an activity that will return the sites at which NRW have provided permissive horse riding routes, we 
do acknowledge that we are not currently providing the information requested through this ROWIP.  

 
2.2.8 Our intention remains to provide an external map that does allow the areas of the WG Woodland Estate that is freehold to be 

selected (displayed) – which would then indicate to potential visitors the areas in which they are able to ride horses on forest 
roads in addition to PRoW and/or permissive routes specifically provided by us. We would further state that we recognise 
that this will benefit all areas of Wales, not just the BBNPA geographic area.  

 
2.2.9 Our current position is that we continue to work with colleagues in ICT and Communications (who lead on our Digital 

Strategy) to develop our mapping capability for all access and recreational opportunities on land managed by NRW. We 
would be happy to keep BBNPA, and other ROWIP authorities, abreast of developments in this area and would welcome 
suggestions of the best way to do this.  

 
 
2.2.10  Proposed Action P56 ix) work with Natural Resources Wales to improve connectivity between the bridleway network and areas of the 

Welsh Government woodland estate where permissive access by horse riders exists  

  

2.2.11 The concordat that is currently being signed off makes a commitment for NRW and the BHS to "Consider opportunities to 
manage, improve and enhance equestrian access, especially in linking existing networks of PRoW, promoted routes and 
forest roads. Work together to identify and prioritise development and source funding to carry out the work." NRW will now be 
looking at the detail of how we do this in a consistent manner across Wales. 

 

P
age 13



Page 6 of 10 

2.2.12 We are happy to work with you to look at opportunities to improve connectivity to better meet the needs of the public and 
reflect the relevant outcomes in Woodlands for Wales, the WG strategy for woodlands and trees.3   

 

2.2.13 Maps showing the location of forest roads are available on the Lle portal. This could provide a useful starting point to look at 
opportunities to improve connectivity where a partnership approach could bring wider benefits. Alternatively, you may already 
have some priorities you would like to share with us.  

 
 
2.2.14 P70 3.41 It is noted that nearly 8% of the known anomalies on the rights of way network lie on the Welsh Government woodland estate, far in 

excess of any other single landowner. This has resulted from rights of way being overplanted by coniferous woodland and is a largely historic 

issue. In many cases, the public are using alternative routes, where they are present, but these are not shown on the Definitive Map. Given 

that the Welsh Go er e t’s oodla d estate has a er  i porta t part to pla  i  the pro isio  of public access in the National Park which, in 

tur , o tri utes to ards i pro e e ts i  people’s health a d ell-being, the opportunity arises to review and eliminate all the anomalies 

that exist on the woodland estate as well as review the rights of way network on the woodland estate generally with a view to improving 

access to and within the woodland estate . 

 

 

2.2.15 P91 3.153 Proposed actions 

seek a commitment from Natural Resources Wales to review, with the National Park Authority, the rights of way network that is present 

on the Welsh Government woodland estate with a view to improving access to and within the estate in order to maximise opportunities to 

contribute towards health and well-being  

 

 

2.2.16 We welcome the recognition in the Draft ROWIP that the land we manage in the BBNP has a role in meeting public access 
needs and share a desire to work together to achieve these benefits. 

 
2.2.17 We acknowledge that the historical legacy of forest management practices has resulted in anomalies where the route shown 

on the definitive map does not correspond with a route on the ground. Uncertainty about routes is not desirable from a user 
or land manager perspective. In managing the WG forest estate, NRW must balance a range of issues and legislative 
demands.   

 

                                            
3 Woodlands for Wales, the WG strategy for woodlands and trees 

P
age 14



Page 7 of 10 

2.2.18 We would welcome the opportunity to help you review the rights of way network in light of the emerging priorities from the 
ROWIP.  This would help us target our limited budgets in the most effective way where the needs for improvement works has 
been established through this strategic process and where a partnership approach could bring wider benefits.   

 
 
2.2.19 Issues relating to Inclusive Access 
 

2.2.20 P81 2.98 The Fieldfare Trust ad ises that i  ost ou tr side et orks all the paths a d trails cannot and should not be made fully 

a essi le 17. 

 

2.2.21 It might be helpful also to refer to ‘By All Reasonable Means’, NRW’s guidance on least restrictive access which was 
developed with the Sensory Trust.  This has recently been reviewed and updated and will be subject to future reviews to 
enable it to be a living document to keep up with developments in access and accessibility. 
https://cdn.naturalresources.wales/media/682681/gn004-by-all-reasonable-means-least-restrictive-access-to-the-

outdoors.pdf?mode=pad&rnd=131582399690000000 
 

2.2.22  people e pe t etter paths ear to s a d facilities than they do in open country or wild land where they expect to experience a greater 

challenge, to meet fe er people, to e ore i depe de t a d to see a ore atural e iro e t 14. 

 

2.2.23 Recognition that different levels of development and facilitation of access is appropriate in different zones is an important 
point. It would be useful here to reference standards according to zone in ‘By All Reasonable Means’ referenced above. See 
the section in Appendix 1 on access standards for different management zones. These zones have been aligned as far as 
possible with those used in the BT Countryside for All standards. 

 

2.2.24 2.91 In terms of the wider rights of way network the most substantial physical barriers that are likely to be encountered are the terrain - 

in terms of the surface of the right of way, and furniture in terms of any stiles, gates or bridges that are located on rights of way.  

 

2.2.25 It could be useful to include gradient here – a short steep section on an otherwise barrier free route can make the difference for 
some users in the route being accessible or not. 

 

2.2.26 2.9  Meeting people’s needs 

2.9  These issues were also highlighted in the results of the National Park Authority’s ROWIP questionnaire16. Very few respondents thought 

that the rights of way network met the needs of persons with mobility problems. Fewer thought that it met the needs of blind or partially 

sighted people. 

P
age 15



Page 8 of 10 

 

2.2.27 Given the above, can we add under 3.117 ‘and consider the distribution of opportunities for barrier free access’? I.e. that a criterion 
for prioritisation for the maintenance, improvement and promotion of PRoW be how well PRoW are serving excluded groups? This 
would help integration between the objectives of prioritised network and those of the Equality Act.    

 

2.2.28 NRW is currently working on a pilot project using NRW sites to consider alternative visual information formats to enable 
disabled users to decide whether a route or site is suitable for them and their equipment. The BBNP could provide an 
excellent case study to look at issues around accessibility in the context of managing high visitor pressure; road access, 
transport, parking, toilets, signage and pre-visit information. NRW and BBNPA have shared objectives of managing unique 
natural features while allowing a diverse range of visitors to enjoy them sustainably. There may be opportunities for future 
joint working on inclusive access on routes and sites which cross NRW and BBNPA managed land. 

 
 

 

2.2.29 National Trails 

 

2.2.30 On page 81 under ‘Category 1 (National Trail and Flagship National Park Authority promoted routes)’ the NT is referred to as 
Offa’s Dyke Long Distance Path, for consistency and to avoid confusion with the scheduled monument, it should be referred 
to as Offa’s Dyke Path National Trail. 

 
2.2.31 3.119 (p.81) sets out maintenance standards which apply to each category in the hierarchy. It would be worth mentioning 

here that ‘Quality Standards for National Trails and the Wales Coast Path Edition 3.1’ also inform route management and 
target funding on ODP NT and that the Trail is surveyed annually against these standards. 

 
2.2.32 Section 3.89 (p.76) Promotion of Outdoor Recreation in the National Park looks at information that is currently available. 

There is no mention of the National Trails website which has information on ODP NT or the page on the BBNP website that 
promotes ODP. This information is included in Appendix 8 Flagship promoted routes and areas (p.168). We would suggest 
considering moving information in Appendix 8 to within the main body of the Plan as these flagship and other promoted 
routes are an integral and important part of the network as reflected by their Category 1 prioritisation. 

 
2.2.33 Within Appendix 8 the information about ODP NT (p.170) is very brief and doesn’t include its status as a National Trail. 

Information could be also added about the additional resources this statutory designation attracts from NRW and that 
management of the Trail is carried out in partnership and co-ordinated by the National Trail Officer. 

 
 

P
age 16



Page 9 of 10 

 

2.2.34 Protected Sites 

 

2.2.35 We welcome the clear statement in the introduction which sets out how you will balance public enjoyment with the need to 

protect the special features of the park. 

 

2.2.36 Where European protected sites (Special Areas of Conservation - SACs) are involved, then we would point out that any such 
project to increase visitors or re-route paths etc that had potential to affect a site, would need assessing under the Habitat 
Regulations.  The BBNPA should also consider impacts of such plans on other protected sites and the wider environment. 
From this perspective we also see the value that the ROWIP can bring in developing and promoting routes that can direct 
people away from sensitive areas. 

 

 

 
2.2.37 Responsible Recreation - Managing people with dogs 
 
2.2.38 3.147 However, issues with gates and trespass are often linked to lack of knowledge or information and can be tackled with signage. 

More malicious matters may be civil or criminal in nature and should be dealt with by the appropriate authorities. Issues with dogs are 

more complicated as there are often behavioural factors at play. However, the National Park Authority has published a Brecon Beacons 

Dogs Code at www.breconbeacons.org/dogs which gives comprehensive advice on being a responsible dog owner. 

 

2.2.39 NRW fully supports the approach being taken to manage people with dogs through a behavioural approach.  We also 
understand that the approach is being developed as a National Park wide initiative. 

 
2.2.40 It is worth being aware that there is also an England/ Wales Dog Walking Code that sits as part of the Countryside Code.  

https://naturalresources.wales/media/4862/the-dog-walking-code.pdf  .  We have also commissioned a series of short animations 
on issues of responsible recreation which will be available soon.   

 
2.2.41 Another point to consider is the Kennel Club, Farmers Unions, Police and other partners are currently petitioning WG for a 

change in the law to address this and are advocating a single message around dog control around livestock.  
 
 
 
 

P
age 17



Page 10 of 10 

2.2.42 Flood risk management – assets managed by NRW 
 
2.2.43 In developing projects and considering management and promotion of PRoW near main rivers you should be aware of the 

potential impact rights of way can have on our flood risk management assets such as embankments or berm areas (a flat 
strip of land, raised bank or terrace bordering a river or canal) and ensure that appropriate measures are taken to ensure our 
flood risk assets are not compromised as a result.   
  

2.2.44 Further information about this and the areas where any measures may need a flood risk activity permit (FRAP) are available 
on our website.  We would encourage you to get in touch with us if you have any queries relating to this. 

 
 
 

  

3. Summary 
 
3.1 We welcome the opportunity to comment on the BBNPA draft ROWIP.  We consider that it provides a sound basis for future    

management and collaborative working to deliver benefits to the public and contribute to multiple national policies.    
 

 
 
Please contact Sarah Tindal to discuss any of the issues raised in NRW’s response. 

 

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

P
age 18

http://www.tcpdf.org


Responses to the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan 
 
Comments and proposed actions are highlighted 
 Ian Rowat (BBNPA Member) 
 
Overall in agreement I wonder whether there should be more prioritization in regards of limited man power and budget. It is not clear in the 
implementation how all this is to be achieved. I am particularly concerned that limited resources could be used for minority users. Paragraph 
2.33 seems to indicate that it would be desirable to increase access for mechanically propelled vehicles and that access is poor when compared 
with access for walkers. Well if you want a statistic then taking the whole Highway network roads etc. walkers, cyclist come off very badly 
compared to vehicles. 
 
x111 How many carriage way drivers are there where is the rational for this other than a response from a user? 
 

1. On page 16 in the interest of inclusivity should the ROW not embrace all those of the UK who pay taxes? Especially as under tourism 
it is said that many come from the SE of England. I would contend that the Welsh ROW are not just for the people of Wales.  As a 
regular user of the network I welcome the drive to define and open up ROW and access opportunities in the NRW woodlands. Too 
many of the rights of way are blocked by conifers. 
 

2. Also good to see the unsurfaced roads clarified this would help if they were clear on the OS map. Although mobile information is very 
significant people using apps still download OS data onto View Ranger for example, therefore close liaison with OS is still necessary. 
 

3. Lots of good examples in this document. 
 
Management of the network will continue according to the prioritisation system - NO CHANGES 
 
Whilst 2.33 may indicate that it would be desirable to increase access for mechanically propelled vehicles (although this is based on the length 
of network available to different users), 2.132 explains why this is not possible – NO CHANGES 
 Action xiii (2.143) Making the rights of way network more accessible for carriage drivers will also make it more accessible for other users. The 
Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan demonstrates that opportunities are few in any case – NO CHANGES 

P
age 19



Page 16 – agreed but the context of the statement made by the Minister is Wales and the sentence is taken from the Minister’s statement – 
NO CHANGES 
 
Respondent 1 (Member of the public)  
My main observation is it is very detailed and long document, whilst this provides the background information and statistical information 
required to satisfy statutory regulatory requirements the format does make it difficult for members of the public to read and engage with.  I 
found it difficult to identify what the priority Improvement Objectives (IO) were and what the actual improvements I as a member of the 
public could expect. I am sure that this is included but for me it was lost in the detail. 
 
I suggest an additional short summary document, maybe in the form of a table that lists the IOs and against each succinctly describe: 
 

 The outcomes expected once the IO is achieved i.e. what will it look and feel like. 
 Why the IO was chosen.  
 The plans for achieving the IO, i.e. the actions and timetable.  
 The evidence / measures will be used to monitor delivery of actions and delivery of the IO. 

 
A number of actions include activities that were not (SMART) i.e. specific, measurable, attainable, realistic and timely. For me it was not clear 
what was going to be done, when, and how it would contribute towards the delivery of an IO. Some could be considered part of its statutory 
duty or things that the BBNPA should be doing regardless of its ROWIP. 
 
Some examples are: 
 

 P92 - vi) the National Park Authority will review the delegation agreements with the unitary authorities on an annual basis. Comment - 
How does this link to the delivery of an IO. Isn’t this good practice?  

 P92 - vii) the National Park Authority will review its prioritisation system to ensure that bridleways and restricted byways are 
categorised appropriately? Comment: Reviewing the scheme will not deliver the IO. Rather the action should be Ensure that a % of them are 
categorised within a specific realistic timeframe.    

 P94 - vii) the National Park Authority will process applications for public path orders in a chronological order but priority will be given 
to”. Comment - how does this contribute to the IO. 

P
age 20



 P94 - x) the National Park Authority will continue to manage the rights of way network using its prioritisation system. Comment – 
similar to above, continuing to do something is not an improvement action.  

 P94 - v) the National Park Authority will work to provide a suite of downloadable routes from the www.breconbeacons.org website. 
Comment – Not specific enough, How many routes? all of them? when will they be available? A better action would be to provide digital downloads 
for x% of routes from the website by mm/yyyy. 

 
I hope that you find this useful and constructive. In a previous life I used to audit improvement plans so dejavu for me. The points I have made 
relate to common issues that the auditors encountered. I strongly recommend a summary document as this has been recognised as good 
practise and it will make it easier to communicate your plans. 
 
As a follow-on to the ROWIP process the Authority will need to publish ‘Delivery Plans’ which will provide more detail about short-term actions to fulfil the actions in the Statement of Action. The actions in the Statement are broader, longer-term actions, which are more 
strategic. What the respondent describes is exactly the level of detail that is anticipated will be included in delivery Plans – NO CHANGES 
 
Glamorgan-Gwent Archaeological Trust Ltd. 
 
Having read your draft report, we see that the existing visions and policies in your draft plan already mention the importance of the historic environment assets of the area and how they contribute greatly to the well-being of local people and visitors alike. The draft also highlights the 
economic benefits our cultural heritage brings through tourism. The review also indicates a commitment to the conservation, enhancement 
and promotion of cultural heritage features. The early involvement of your BBNP archaeologist will ensure the suitable consideration and 
mitigation of any impact of the review on the historic environment. However, if you require further information or assistance at any stage 
please do not hesitate to contact us. 
 NO CHANGES 
 
British Driving Society Wales 
 
I am the ROW representative for the British Driving Society Wales. We are a minority user group but a very enthusiastic organisation. As 
everyone is aware our roads are becoming more and more difficult to use safely with the volume and speed of the traffic and it is increasingly dangerous for a horse and rider and equally for us as carriage drivers. Our future hopes would be to encourage our members out into the 
countryside with the availability to carriage drive on safe routes such as well-maintained byways, restricted byways, open access land ( where 

P
age 21



suitable) and woodland parks. It is unfortunate that more suggestions to help improve access for carriage driving were not forthcoming during 
consultation. Most carriage drivers are happy to box their horse/pony and carriage to enable them to drive safely, circular routes or where 
possible linking byways/restricted byways or woodland to create a route with shared access and possibly an area to park have been a great 
success in other areas. Please take carriage driving into consideration when planning improvements for byways/restricted byways/woodland parks and permitted open spaces.   
 
Making the rights of way network more accessible for carriage drivers is included as action xiii in 2.143 – NO CHANGES 
 
Powys County Council 
 
We are pleased to see that least restrictive access forms a prominent part of the BBNPA’s draft ROWIP for 2019-29. We have a few 
comments about specific sections, as follows. 
 
Section: 
 
2.39  Access land:  
 

Under point 2.41, urban commons and commons with a deed of dedication (presumably under section 193 of the Law of Property Act 
1925) are mentioned. It is correct that there is a right of access on foot to these areas; however, please note that the access under 
section 193 of the Law of Property Act 1925 is for ‘air and exercise’ and is assumed to include access on horseback too. 

 
 This is clarified at 2.43 – NO CHANGES 
 
2.143   Proposed actions: 
 

One of the aims of this section is to “work to eliminate one step stiles”. It is not clear why this does not simply refer to ‘stiles’ rather 
than being specific to ‘one-step stiles.’ This might allow for this action to be combined with action (xv), in relation to stiles on bridges. 
It would also present a clearer vision with regard to least restrictive access and the approach to all types of stile on the public rights of 
way network.  

P
age 22



It is positive that under action (xx), work will be carried out to replace stiles with gates wherever possible. That is in line with the 
work being carried out by Powys County Council on other public rights of way that are outside the National Park area. 
 
Perhaps remove Actions xiv) xv) and xvi) and make Action xx more prominent as Action xx is saying what the 3 aforementioned Actions are saying. Just make it a focus to remove stiles regardless of whether they have one step or not etc. Possibly if a stile is a legal 
entitlement and a gate cannot be negotiated, then the next best thing is a two-step stile or perhaps to British Standard. 

 
One step stiles have been purposely targeted as there are so many of them on the network. So, if a landowner will not accept a gate 
(when an existing one-step stile is sub-standard) it would be replaced with a two-step stile. 
 
With regard to stiles on bridges, these are considered to be part of the bridge and therefore the responsibility of the Authority rather 
than the landowner. Hence, the separate action. The same applies to steps. 
 
It would be preferred to keep them separate so that reference can be made to each when the separate circumstances arise.  
  
NO CHANGES 

 
2.144  Proposed policies and practices: 
 

Under point (v), it is noted that where a gate is not feasible as a replacement for a stile, a dog stile shall be installed. It would be helpful 
to understand the circumstances under which a gate might not be considered feasible. 
 
This was included to cover all bases when either a landowner would not accept a gate or where a gate could not physically be installed 
(although the latter would be a rare event). 
 
NO CHANGES 
 

3.52  Authorisation process for new structures: 
 

P
age 23



Under section 3.56, in relation to authorisations under section 147 of the Highways Act 1980, it may be pertinent to refer to the 
presumption in favour of gates (mentioned in proposed policy (iii) point 4.144.) It may also be useful to explain why the number of 
requests for authorisation is considered to be low – is that a comparison with other local authority figures, for example?  

  A footnote can be added here to refer to 2.144 iiii). Where the text says “considered to be low” it refers to less than 10 and is not 
meant as a comparison. Replace “low” with “few”.  

 
 MAKE CHANGE 
 
3.116 Prioritisation of the rights of way network: 
 

Under category 3, it might be helpful to expand on the criteria used to decide which routes are considered useful within the network, 
as this is very open to interpretation. It would also help in explaining which routes fall under ‘routes with no obvious benefit, potential 
or use’ (category 5.)  
 

3.118 Generally, the prioritisation of works could be improved upon perhaps and be a little more specific. 
 

These categories were previously agreed in consultation with the LAF so it may wish to take a view on these comments. Some 
additional criteria could be added to 5 to further specify why some routes sit in this category. An obvious one would be dual status 
routes where the route is tarmaced and part of the normal road network and therefore not managed by the National Park Authority. 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 24



Responses submitted via the response form 
 
Q1 In general, do you think that the Statement of Action will help achieve the Vision contained in the Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan? If not, why not?  
Respondent 2 - Yes 
 
Rural Action Cwm Taf - No, not unless a significant increase in budget is found. Of the 49 stated actions in the Statement of Action 21 require 
significant extra staff time and between £5K & £10K per annum to implement, 11 require some extra staff time and up to £5K per annum to 
implement, 3 have unknown resource and cost implications, the remainder can be achieved within existing staff and budget capacity. However 
para 3.115 states: “the National Park Authority operates in a climate of budgetary reductions and this will continue for the foreseeable future.” 
 
Canal and River Trust – Yes. 
 
Park Society - We agree that the Statement of Action will, in general, help achieve the Vision, but we would urge the Authority to give greater 
priority to ensuring  that the necessary funding and resources will be available to reflect growing footfall, and to secure the successful 
implementation of the ROWIP. 
 
Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA) – Yes.  At least 10 years of work here!  We may want to consider a business case for improving the staff commitment (from within) towards delivering the regulatory side.  
NO CHANGES 
 
Q2 In general, do you think that the policies and practices included in the Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan will deliver the Vision contained in it? If not, why not?  
Respondent 2 - Yes 
 
Rural Action Cwm Taf – In general yes. 
 Canal and River Trust – Yes. 

P
age 25



 
Park Society - We note the Statement of Actions for enforcement, conflicts and dogs code (1.31-1.34) but could find no associated policies or 
practices to correlate with Vision Aim 4. As in 1 above, the proposed policies and practices will “help” deliver the Vision but are insufficient to 
fully provide for Aim 3.  
Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA) – Let’s see what the public says; is possible that public may want more clarity on ‘what will get done first’ so to speak.  
Aim 3 – this is access for all in a general sense. It does not mean that the whole network will be access for all but that the network will 
provide opportunities for all. The changes to the way the Authority deals with furniture, and seeking to eliminate certain types of furniture, will 
make the network more accessible generally. 
 
Aim 4 – the provision of more information e.g. online Definitive Map, online access land, urban commons and waymarking will help deliver the 
Vision 
 
NO CHANGES 
 Q3 Do you think that eliminating, as far as possible, steps and stiles from the rights of way network will make it more accessible and attractive for a wider range of people? Do you envisage any problems arising from such a strategy?  
Respondent 2 - Yes. The difficulties may arise where landowners have issues with stock control. It should not happen, but it does.  
Rural Action Cwm Taf - Possibly, para 2.94 states  
“Stiles can pose problems for older people, people with mobility problems, dog walkers (where there is no dog stile) and families with small children (where 
there may or may not be pushchairs or buggies in use and where the children cannot climb stiles without assistance). In some cases, a stile will be an 
absolute barrier.” However, there does not seem to be any analysis that identifies which stiles are an absolute barrier. Stile replacement is also 
one of the actions that requires significant extra staff time and budget, perhaps a more targeted approach to prioritise routes that are likely to attract some of the people identified above should be adopted. There could be a problem with off road motorcycling etc.  
 
Canal and River Trust – Yes. However this should be carried out in consultation with each landowner and also recognise that each location 
will have to be considered individually.  
 

P
age 26



Park Society - We agree that eliminating such obstacles will improve accessibility for the less mobile walker and for the increasingly older 
walker.  Problems may arise if the gate self-closing mechanism fails and there may be a consequent increase in maintenance required. 
 Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA) – Yes; and yes!  Landowner objections but perhaps post-EU world will stimulate a change in attitude.  Any or all stiles are an absolute barrier to someone 
 
NO CHANGES 
 
Q4 Do you think that improving accessibility around and between settlements is a good place to start?  
Respondent 2 - Yes, given that so many people enjoy low-level and (perhaps) circular walks which take in local attractions to visit. 
 
Rural Action Cwm Taf - Yes however this policy is ok so long as it is in the context that routes around settlements also connect to routes 
between settlements. There is no point getting to the edge of a settlement and then having to proceed on the highway. 
 
Canal and River Trust – Yes. 
 
Park Society - Yes. This needs to be a priority, in enabling local communities to easily access the RoW network from their homes and facilitating short journeys without needing recourse to the car. Where significant new development is planned, this will inevitably generate 
additional use of the RoW network within the locality. In these circumstances, we would encourage, not only good footpath links from new 
development into the RoW network, but also the use of funding via Section 106 agreements to ensure that the quality of local networks is 
appropriate to cater for greater use. This is likely to require appropriate policies within the review of the Local Development Plan as well as 
within the ROWIP. 
 Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA) – Yes, relevant to Place Plans and achieving consensus at the most local level of accountability.  Also helps BBNPA to direct limited resources towards work of most beneficial social impact and, potentially, to measure the benefits in a meaningful way.  NO CHANGES 
 

P
age 27



Q5 Do you think that ceasing to replace defective or sub-standard stiles on public footpaths and installing self-closing gates free of charge instead is a sound strategy?  
Respondent 2 - Yes. I am aware of cases where stiles are a deterrent to people with physical conditions which mean they can use stiles only 
with difficulty or not at all. 
 
Rural Action Cwm Taf - Yes, but special consideration should be made for routes that cross farmland, particularly where there is likely to be 
livestock. Gates are important to stop straying and theft and therefore need to be self-closing and secure. 
 
Canal and River Trust – Yes. 
 
Park Society – Yes. 
 Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA) – Yes, BBNPA will need to publicise this well in advance though (through LAF, community councils, farmers’ press, regional newspapers, and tell WG and NRW), so that the public understands fully why BBNPA is doing it and where its liabilities end and landowners’ start.  NO CHANGES  Q6 Where a self-closing gate is not acceptable to the landowner is it fair to provide a stile for free and ask the landowner to install it (albeit there is a duty on the landowner to do so in any case and the Authority must contribute at least 25% of the costs involved)?  
Respondent 2 - Despite their legal duty, not all landowners are amenable to/can afford to install a stile. The Authority would presumably weigh up the costs of the action outlined above against the cost of enforcement measures, assuming this is a practicable option. In part, this may 
depend on individual cases: a stile would be no help on a route promoted for use by people with impaired vision or mobility. Outside these 
categories, while it would not be fair to the Authority to take the above, it might be the only means of securing the route. 
 
Rural Action Cwm Taf – Yes. 
 Park Society - This approach appears fair but we are concerned that there may be an increase in defective stiles that have not been replaced.  
The policy should be monitored and reviewed in due course. 

P
age 28



 Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA) – Yes, BBNPA will need to publicise this well in advance though (through LAF, community councils, farmers’ press, regional newspapers, and tell WG and NRW), so that the public understands fully why BBNPA is doing it and where its liabilities end and landowners’ start.  
NO CHANGES 
 Q7 Is having an online map showing rights of way along with furniture and their locations a sound idea?  
Respondent 2 - Yes. Preferably downloadable and also available as hard copy if possible. Not all areas have adequate reception and not all 
potential users have smartphones. 
 
Rural Action Cwm Taf – Yes. 
 
Canal and River Trust – Yes. 
 
Park Society – Very much so. 
 
Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA) – Yes!  BBNPA can use this model to build other spatio-temporal data models for public and its own use.  
NO CHANGES 
 
Q8 Is the proposed policy to eliminate instances where multiple furniture items are present at the same location sound?   
Respondent 2 - Yes. The example illustrated in Fig. 38 is apposite. More pedestrians are likely to be able to open a gate than able to climb a 
stile. 
 
Rural Action Cwm Taf – Yes. 
 Canal and River Trust – Yes. 

P
age 29



 
Park Society - Since funding is difficult, it is incumbent on the Authority to ensure such funds that are available are spent wisely and a reduction 
of multiple furniture items when one or other deteriorates is considered an efficient use of monies. 
 Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA) – Yes, BBNPA will need to publicise this well in advance though (through LAF, community councils, farmers’ press, regional newspapers, and tell WG and NRW), so that the public understands fully why BBNPA is doing it and where its liabilities end and landowners’ start.  
NO CHANGES 
 Q9 The Authority does not currently erect signposts or waymarkers on the open hill unless exceptional circumstances apply. Do you think that it is sensible to continue with this policy? If not, why not?  
Respondent 2 - Yes, it is. The majority of people who access open hills will, or should be, properly equipped and able to navigate along their 
chosen route by their chosen means. One cannot legislate for the small minority who exceed their capabilities except by encouraging everyone 
to be prepared and informing them of the conditions of terrain, weather etc. they are likely encounter. 
 
Rural Action Cwm Taf – Yes. 
 
Park Society - We consider that there may be other occasions where waymarking such as on Offa’s Dyke path is appropriate and suggest that 
the Authority consult on having a few similar markers on the western part of the Beacons Way. 
 
Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA) – Yes but BBNPA probably needs to explain itself better e.g. FAQs.  There have been a few special waymarkers erected on Offa’s Dyke in the past but the Authority would need to consider whether they were 
appropriate on the Beacons Way in the west of the Park. 
 
NO CHANGES 
 Q10 Do you think that the proposed policy to prioritise some types of definitive map modification order applications is fair?  

P
age 30



 
Respondent 2 - Yes. Broadly agree with the categories set out. 
 
Rural Action Cwm Taf – Yes.  
Canal and River Trust – Yes. 
 
Park Society - The policy appears fair but we would recommend that a review is undertaken in, say, a year after its implementation, to assess 
its effectiveness and identify possible improvements. 
 Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA) – It’s up to BBNPA how to organise this work and a triage approach is appropriate.  
NO CHANGES 
 
Q11 Do you think that the proposed policy of focussing promotion on local circular routes suitable for dog walkers, families with children 

and people with mobility problems is sound? 
Respondent 2 – Qualified yes. 
 
Rural Action Cwm Taf - Yes however this policy is ok so long as it is in the context that routes around settlements also connect to routes 
between settlements. There is no point getting to the edge of a settlement and then having to proceed on the highway. 
 
Canal and River Trust – Yes, however where routes are already multi-functional this should be made clear to prevent conflict between 
different users. Routes suitable for other users should also be promoted, with it being made clear that they are also suitable to dog walkers 
etc. and that everyone should share the space.  
 
Park Society - Yes, but this should be done in conjunction with local groups so as not to duplicate eg Walkers are Welcome, the Walking Festivals, Bwlch walking group etc.  We would expect some means of monitoring the effect of these promotional materials to be undertaken 
to ensure that monies are well spent.  These routes would also be appropriate for improving provision of information boards. 
 

P
age 31



Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA) – Yes, BBNPA will need to publicise this well in advance though (through LAF, community councils, farmers’ press, regional newspapers, and tell WG and NRW), so that the public understands fully why BBNPA is doing it and where its liabilities end and landowners’ start.  Needs to be considered in relation to behaviour change for dog walkers, and availability of public conveniences.  Might also need to press for more financial contributions from the beneficiaries, particularly the commercial ones.  
NO CHANGES 
 Q12 Do you agree that the Authority should continue to manage the rights of way network according to its current prioritisation system?  
Respondent 2 – Yes. 
 
Rural Action Cwm Taf – Yes. 
 
Canal and River Trust – Yes, however query whether the canal towpath should be included in Category 1?  
 
Park Society - The current prioritisation system appears to provide a framework for the sensible targeting of investment. 
 Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA) – I think this will change as a consequence of stronger focus on routes around settlements.  Don’t yet know how it will change though!  
Both the Usk Valley Walk and Taff Trail follow the canal towpath therefore most of it is a Category 1. 
 
NO CHANGES 
 
Q13 Do you have any other comments with regard to the Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan?  Respondent 2 – No. 
 
Rural Action Cwm Taf - Recognise the important contribution that a well maintained and accessible local rights of way network makes to the 
economy of the Brecon Beacons National Park and wider rural areas. Rights of way are the easiest way people access the countryside and 
therefore maximise opportunities for all people to experience the health and wellbeing benefits of the natural environment and landscape 

P
age 32



features of National Parks and other rural areas. As such it is important that the network is as inclusive, accessible and well maintained as 
possible and it is imperative that the necessary investment is allocated towards it.  
 
Canal and River Trust - We are the charity who look after and bring to life 109 miles of canals in Wales. Our waterways contribute to the health and wellbeing of local communities and economies, creating attractive and connected places to live, work, volunteer and spend leisure 
time. These historic, natural and cultural assets form part of the strategic and local green-blue infrastructure network, linking urban and rural 
communities as well as habitats. By caring for our waterways and promoting their use we believe we can improve the wellbeing of Wales. The 
rust is known as Glandŵr Cymru, the Canal & River Trust in Wales and we are a statutory consultee in the Development Management 
process. 
 
The Trust recognises the incorporation of our canal towpaths as part of walking and cycling routes and, where designated as a bridleway, or as 
a permissive route, towpaths are also available for horse riding. 
 
The canal towpath is a well-used and well-loved resource and we recognise the level of support given to its development, promotion and 
improvement by the National Park Authority. Glandŵr Cymru have worked closely with the NPA to promote ‘Step by Step’, as a pilot project 
in social prescribing and we hope to roll this out to other suitable locations on the canal and on other canals in due course. We are also 
working with the County Council to improve waymarking and provide other ancillary facilities such as seats etc. and there is an aspiration to 
jointly provide a Discovery Trail from Torfaen to Govilon in conjunction with other partners.  
It is hoped that such projects will increase awareness and usage of the canal towpath to provide increased well-being opportunities for local 
residents and visitors to the area and we will continue to work closely with the relevant authorities to seek funding opportunities for 
improvements. 
 
The Trust aims to ensure towpaths remain in good condition, consistent with the character of the area in which the towpath is located and its level of use, to ensure all users have an enjoyable towpath experience. 
 
We recognise that this is dependent on people being considerate, particularly to those who are not moving, are slower, or more vulnerable; in 
general priority should be given to the slowest and those using the waterway. 
 
The Trust promotes a towpath code, which is a common-sense guide to sharing the towpath and what to expect of others. At its heart is the Trust’s Share the Space, Drop your pace slogan, a registered trademark. This encourages users to: 

P
age 33



Share the space – towpaths are popular places to be enjoyed by everyone. Please be mindful of others, keep your dogs under control, and 
clean up after them. 
Drop your pace – pedestrians have priority on our towpaths so be ready to slow down; if you’re in a hurry, consider using an alternative 
route for your journey.  
The Trust has published ‘Better towpaths for everyone’ which is a national policy document aimed at encouraging the shared use to towpaths, 
and the design of any improved towpath should be in line with our guidance in terms of width and materials and any new signage would need 
to reflect our branding and style as suggested in ‘Better towpaths’. 
 
Park Society - 
 
1. We note that, as a result of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, the National Park Authority cannot re-open or 

create routes for mechanically propelled vehicles of its own volition (para 2.136 and following).  However, the problem of recreational use 
of motor-cross bikes and 4x4 vehicles is an increasing one and we would recommend that the National Park Authority work with partners 
to identify a strategy that encourages recreational use elsewhere and adequately prevents their inappropriate use within the Park. A start 
would be to identify locations and routes used by off-roaders in the Park and to consider what preventative measures could be used e.g. 
strategically placed gates or stiles. Suitable locations for off-road vehicles could possibly be found within the extensive commercial forests 
beyond the Park’s boundaries. 
  

2. We note that you recognise the need to work with farmers and land managers to promote and implement the least restrictive furniture 
option and will seek to keep structures to a minimum.  Whilst most farmers/landowners are co-operative, some are unhelpful and some 
may be obstructive.  We agree that enforcement action should be taken against those farmers/landowners that will not work with you. 
 

3. Similarly, there are a minority of dog owners who fail to keep their dog under appropriate control/on the lead.  We accept that this is a 
complicated issue but consider that publishing a Brecon Beacons Dog Code and providing advice at the present level is not sufficient to 
address the problem. 
 

4. We note that Figure 20, which identifies main cycling routes, shows a relative lack of provision in the west of the Park. We would urge the 
Authority as part of the ROWIP to develop proposals to address this deficiency with a strategy for linking the Cynon, Nedd and Tawe valleys to the south west of the Park with the cycleway network based around the Usk valley. 
 

P
age 34



5. We welcome the importance given to working with major institutional landowners in improving access, but would in particular encourage 
collaboration with the Water Industry to facilitate access within their landholdings. 
 

6. There are locations around the Park where RoWs are routed to cross watercourses, but bridges or stepping stones are absent, turning some routes which could be valuable parts of the network into cul-de-sacs. We would encourage the Authority to develop a programme 
to address this deficiency. 
 

7. We welcome the leaflets on walks links to bus services, but would urge the authority to develop a greater focus on linking walks to public 
transport, in order to make walking opportunities more available to those without access to a car, and to reduce the carbon footprint of 
visitors. While the bus network within the Park is important in this respect, the promotion of walks links to the many railway stations 
which lie just beyond the Park’s boundaries could be particularly valuable. 
 

8. In providing car-free access to walking and cycling opportunities, we would encourage the Authority to investigate mechanisms for re-
introducing the valuable Beacons Bus services, and in particular the innovative Bike Bus. 
 

9. If the term access is interpreted in its wider sense, it is not just physical access but also about information on access. As such information 
centres and facilities need to be seen as playing an important role in the ROWIP. For the many less well-informed visitors such access to 
information and advice defines access to the National Park! 
 

10. Also if access is defined in this wider sense, it is disappointing that there is little mention of the Welsh language, particularly given the 
NPA’s statutory obligations in this respect. Also, given the NPA’s equality obligations, it is disappointing that there is no mention of 
information in braille or large print for those who are visually impaired, or access to type talk for those who are hard of hearing. Also, 
more consideration needs to be given to encouraging visitors from ethnic minorities to using the RoW network. 
 

11. We welcome the information on the promotion of outdoor recreation (paras 3.89 – 3.104), but we are disappointed to find no reference 
to the activities of the Brecon Beacons Park Society with its continuing extensive year-round walks programme. 
 

12. With both the review of the Local Development Plan and the update of the National Park Management Plan underway, we would urge the 
Authority to use every opportunity to use those planning frameworks to facilitate the implementation of the ROWIP.  

P
age 35



13. Notwithstanding, the comments above, we very much welcome the priority given by the NPA to updating this document, one of the NPA’s 
most important documents. It is clear that a lot of hard work has gone into reaching this stage, and we look forward to working closely 
with the NPA in taking it further forward and securing its implementation. 
 Paul Sinnadurai (BBNPA)  Aim 7:  suggest “… working and evolving landscape…” to reflect the inevitable landscape and land use policy changes.  A suggestion for the Vision Statement:  as currently phrased, it reads more like an Aim because it includes ‘intent’ through use of the words “to improve” and “so that…”.  Suggest amending:  All potential users of the rights of way network and access land are enabled to 

appreciate and enjoy the special qualities of the National Park in a sustainable way, benefiting their health and well-being as a result.  Figure 3:  BOATs take up just 0.07% (Table 1), whereas Figure 3 illustrates this as 1%; I suggest the annotation is shown as “<0.1%”.  I see why this has been rounded up but it does so by 14-fold, whereas the other figures are rounded by a fraction.  Figure 3 could be deliberately misused.  Paragraph 2.16:  I suggest:  “… open country or forestry estate, the latter managed by Natural Resources Wales,” to avoid possible ambiguity that NRW manages all the categories listed.  Figure 7:  may be worth clarifying that the numbers refer to days since issue reported to resolution.  
(Park Society 1) It is suggested that illegal off-roading is a problem beyond the scope of the ROWIP as the Authority has no powers to deal 
with the criminal or anti-social behaviour associated with it. 
 
(Park Society 3) A dog code is the initial part of a wider strategy which is still being developed 
 (Park Society 4) Whilst the Authority promotes cycling and mountain biking routes within the Park the strategic leads for cycling generally is 
Sustrans and the local authorities. The National Cycle Network crosses land which the Authority owns and maintains but these are very small 
parts of a whole. The Authority would expect to work with the local authorities as a partner on the development of cycle routes. 
 

P
age 36



(Park Society 6) There is no duty upon the Authority to provide crossings on watercourses where no crossing existed previously. However, 
crossings may be desirable in certain locations and these will be considered in accordance with the priority system. There are both financial 
and liability implications for each new crossing installed. 
 (Park Society 7) The Draft ROWIP recognises that linking walks to public transport is dependent on the long-term stability of bus routes 
(given that there are no rail routes within the Park). As long-term stability cannot be guaranteed this constrains the development of linked 
walks especially if a publication or promotion is involved. 
 
(Park Society 8) Both the Beacons Bus and the Bike Bus were funded from external sources. That funding came to an end. 
 
(Park Society 9) The focus on information has moved from information centres to publications and online provision. There are actions in the 
Draft ROWIP to supplement this. 
 
(Park Society 10) Welsh language and equality obligations are overarching duties upon the Authority and apply to all its work. Information is 
already provided bilingually and provision is made for those with disabilities. There are also issues that fall under the Well-being duty that also 
apply to the Authority and which are specifically discussed in the ROWIP.   
 
(Park Society 11) The Draft ROWIP has concentrated on the Authority’s own promotion of outdoor recreation. We are aware that great 
efforts are made by others in this regard and that there is a vast array of groups in existence and a large amount of promotion going on. 
However, there is too much to be included. 
 
NO CHANGES 
 
(Paul Sinnadurai) Aim 7:  suggest “… working and evolving landscape…” 
 
CHANGE  (Paul Sinnadurai) Suggest amending:  All potential users of the rights of way network and access land are enabled to appreciate and enjoy the special qualities of the National Park in a sustainable way, benefiting their health and well-being as a result.  CHANGE 

P
age 37



(Paul Sinnadurai) Figure 3:  BOATs take up just 0.07% (Table 1), whereas Figure 3 illustrates this as 1%; I suggest the annotation is shown as “<0.1%”.  I see why this has been rounded up but it does so by 14-fold, whereas the other figures are rounded by a fraction.  Figure 3 could be deliberately misused.  CHANGE  (Paul Sinnadurai) Paragraph 2.16:  I suggest:  “… open country or forestry estate, the latter managed by Natural Resources Wales,” to avoid possible ambiguity that NRW manages all the categories listed.  CHANGE  (Paul Sinnadurai) Figure 7:  may be worth clarifying that the numbers refer to days since issue reported to resolution.  CHANGE P
age 38



 

  

2018-2019 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



  

1 
 

Brecon Beacons National Park Local Access Forum 

 

Annual Report, April 2018 – March 2019 

 

 

CONTENTS Page  

 

Chairman’s Foreword 

 

2 

 

Chairman's Report 

 

 

2 

A note from the Secretary 

 

3 

 

Introduction 4 

  

The Year Reviewed 5 

  

Appointing Authority Details      Appendix l 8 

  

Area Covered By BBNP LAF      Appendix ll 9 

  

Meeting Details                         Appendix lll 10 

  

Membership Details                   Appendix lV 11 

  

Further Reading                         Appendix V  

 

 

15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



  

2 
 

BBNP LAF ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19 

Chairman’s Foreword 

I feel privileged to be continuing to Chair the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Access Forum.  The 

current members ensure that every meeting is, at the same time, insightful, challenging and enjoyable.  

The skills and understanding around the table ensure that no stone is left unturned in the quest for 

the best possible outcome for access users and landowners alike.  Although it is the rule that no 

Member represents any outside organisation (e.g. Ramblers Association, Farming Unions etc.) the 

make up of this LAF makes sure that a really wide range of interests is adequately covered. My only 

regret is that, despite considerable effort, we do not have any off-road cyclists to put forward their 

increasingly important views.  

Listening to the woes of some other LAF Chairs from around Wales, in terms of their relationships 

with their respective Authorities, I am also very pleased to record the closeness of the relationship 

between the LAF and Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Officers.  

Ian Mabberley  

Chairman, Brecon Beacons National Park Local Access Forum 

Chairman’s Report 

As is detailed later in this Annual Report, 2018-19 has been a busy year for the LAF.  Matters have 

ranged from the production of the latest ROWIP, covering all aspects of access in the Park, to 

considerations about disabled access across about 15 yards of a track in the far West.  In other words, 

no issue is either too big or too small for the LAF to consider.  This is important as often the smaller 

issues are the ones which help to inform and direct the wider ones.  

One example of this came out of a matter raised by one Member about a Glastir tree planting scheme 

in the East of the Park.  It became obvious that Local Access Foram had not been included in the list 

of statutory consultees for the Scheme.  By good fortune, at the next all-Wales Chairs meeting a 

presentation of the Scheme was on the Agenda.  I was able to highlight this anomaly and now LAFs in 

Wales are being consulted where any aspect of public access is potentially threatened by a Glastir 

tree-planting scheme.  

I have to say here, that without the expert guidance of all of the Access and Rights of Way Team, we 

would often struggle to deliver a legally correct response.  On behalf of all of the Members I would 

like to thank Paul, Eifion, Richard and Lisa for their hard work and forbearance.  

Arriving at an answer that satisfies users and landowners is often difficult as their needs and aspirations 

are so often widely differing.  However, I believe that with the breadth of backgrounds of the members, 

we usually end up with something which is acceptable to all parties.  

Finally I am encouraged that some BBNPA Members also attend our meetings as Observers.  I am 

sure that this helps mutual understanding and I look forward to welcoming many more in the future.  

 

 

 

Page 41



  

3 
 

A note from the Secretary 

The current members of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Access Forum (BBNP LAF) were 

appointed in November 2017 and are therefore about half way through their term of office. The 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority decided to appoint the maximum number of members 

allowed (22) to the LAF and meetings are always vibrant and interesting and have started to attract 

more observers than has been the case in the past.  

During the past year the BBNP LAF has discussed a variety of access related issues and, whilst the 

debate has not always provided formal advice to the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, advice 

has been given to its Officers in a less formal way and this has been very useful. 

The LAF has also influenced other access providers in the Park such as Natural Resources Wales, Dŵr 

Cymru Welsh Water and Welsh Government. 

Over the past year the LAF membership has become more proactive in agenda setting which is 

welcomed and have supported BBNPA officers in a number of ways. The LAF has supported BBNPA 

funding applications for access related projects such as the Step Changes project and have advised on 

and supported delivery of other projects. The LAF has also supported the BBNPA in trying to improve 

access at specific locations, for example at Llyn y Fan Fach where it appears that progress is now being 

made.  

The LAF has provided constructive advice and support throughout the year and has responded to the 

ups and downs.  I would like to thank all members for their contributions and significant amount of 

time that they spend on LAF issues during meetings and outside the meeting cycle. 

Richard Ball 

Secretary, Brecon Beacons National Park Local Access Forum. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



  

4 
 

Introduction 

 

This current Brecon Beacons National Park Local Access Forum was established on 16th November 

2017 and comprises 22 members, including a Chairman and a Deputy Chairman. The National Park 

Authority has a statutory duty to establish at least one Local Access Forum (LAF) as required by the 

Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000.  

The Forum has only one statutory function, which is to advise the National Park Authority (NPA), 

Natural Resources Wales (NRW) and others as to the improvement of public access to land in the 

area for the purposes of open-air recreation and the enjoyment of the area. This advice should be 

given having taken due regard to the needs of land-management and the natural beauty of the area.  

Meeting papers relating to the LAF can be found on the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

(BBNPA) website, www.beacons-npa.gov.uk, or members of the public can view copies at the National 

Park Office, Plas y FFynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon, LD3 7HP or individual copies can be ordered 

from that office (at a small charge). Members of the public are welcomed at all meetings of the Forum 

and may be invited to speak at the discretion of the Chairman.  Forum Members can be contacted via 

the Secretary. 

 

The Year Reviewed 

A Flavour of Issues Discussed and Advice Given by the Local Access Forum 2018 – 2019 

Not all issues discussed by the LAF are listed below but the following gives a flavour of the LAF 

business during the past year. Many items such as the Review of the BBNPA Rights of Way 

Improvement Plan were discussed at a number of different meetings as they were significant areas of 

work. During the year the LAF held 1 site meeting and 3 formal meetings. 

Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP)   

The ROWIP is a strategic plan for access management and the BBNPA produced a ROWIP in 2007 

and there was a requirement to review ROWIPs 10 years after they had been published. NRW has 

produced statutory guidance regarding the review of ROWIPs in Wales and the BBNPA is following 

this guidance. 

The guidance requires that linkages are made to other strategies, plans and Welsh Government policy 

and legislation such as the Well Being of Future Generations Act. It also requires that assessments are 

made of public need as well as identifying opportunities. 

The LAF has been fully consulted during this process and has commented in detail on the draft ROWIP. 

The BBNPA has incorporated comments and suggestions made by the LAF. 

 

 

 

 

Page 43

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/


  

5 
 

Access at Llyn y Fan Fach 

The BBNPA had been working with Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water for some time to improve access at 

Llyn y Fan Fach. Part of the access road had already been upgraded. Further improvements were 

required to increase informal parking (non-surfaced) and to remove gates on the track from the car 

park to the lake which would make the route more accessible for use by powered wheelchairs. Site 

visits were undertaken by the Chairman, Josie Pearson, the Secretary and Wardens manager who 

explained the issues to the LAF members. The LAF has supported the BBNPA proposals to improve 

access at this location and negotiations are ongoing between the parties involved. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



  

6 
 

CROW Act Access Restrictions 

Over the past few years there have been very few CROW access land restrictions within the BBNP. 

However it was drawn to the attention of the LAF that on occasion access was being restricted on 

NRW estate without a formal CROW restriction. Although there is provision in statutory guidance 

to manage access on CROW access land in an informal manner this does not include entirely 

restricting the public for more than a few minutes. Following representations made by the BBNPLAF 

and the BBNPA NRW has reviewed its guidance to managers to ensure that access restrictions are 

correctly managed on its estate. 

The Original Mountain Marathon 

The Original Mountain Marathon was held in the Black Mountains in the autumn of 2018. The LAF 

was consulted on proposed arrangements and the event which brought 3000 participants to the area 

concluded with relatively few problems.  

The Monmouthshire Way 

The proposal to create The Monmouthshire Way, a 116 mile circular route part of which pass through 

Brecon Beacons National Park was presented to the BBNP LAF by David Morgan. The BBNP LAF 

made a number of observations, comments and provided useful advice to its promoters. 

Funding Applications 

The LAF leant its support to the Healthy, Active and Outdoors project (joint BBNPA / Powys County 

Council project) bid to NRW and to BBNPA’s Step Changes ENRAW (Enabling Natural Resources 

and Well-Being) application. Both of these projects seek to provide conditions that encourage greater 

participation in outdoor activity by a greater range of people. Many of these people may currently be 

excluded from outdoors activity by physical or perceptual barriers. The aim of the projects are to 

improve health and well-being as well as understanding and enjoyment of the countryside. 

Bryn Arw Site Visit 

Bryn Arw is a hill approximately 4 Km north of Abergavenny. It rises to just over 380 m, is common 

land and therefore CROW access land and can be accessed by a number of public rights of way. The 

hill is largely bracken infested but is nevertheless moderately popular with walkers. A local grazier has 

submitted an application for a Glastir woodland creation scheme which would involve planting broad 

leafed trees on the eastern slopes of the hill and installing some fencing to exclude stock from the new 

planting. The grazier invited the LAF to visit the site and provide comments. The LAF supported the 

scheme conditional on appropriate access being provided through any fencing for legitimate visitors 

and that its support was for this particular scheme and should not be construed as a general support 

for planting of trees on common land. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



  

7 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

LAF Members on site visit to Bryn Arw 

 

Page 46



  

8 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

APPOINTING AUTHORITY DETAILS 

Appointing Authority: 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Plas y Ffynnon 

Cambrian Way 

Brecon 

Powys 

LD3 7HP 

Tel. 01874 624437 

Fax. 01874 622574 

Email. enquiries@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

 

Secretary: 

Richard Ball 

Countryside and Access Projects Officer 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Plas y Ffynnon 

Cambrian Way 

Brecon 

Powys 

LD3 7HP. 

Tel. 01874 620464 

Email. richard.ball@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 47

mailto:enquiries@beacons-npa.gov.uk
mailto:richard.ball@beacons-npa.gov.uk


  

9 
 

Appendix 11 

Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



  

10 
 

APPENDIX III 

MEETING DETAILS 

During the year the following meetings were held, all of which were open to, and attended 

by the public: 

 

2018-19 

 

17th May 2018   Brecon Subud Hall 

13th September 2018   Brecon Subud Hall 

8th October 2018   Bryn Arw, site visit 

10th January 2019   Brecon Subud Hall 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



  

11 
 

Appendix IV 

Members Details 

Name Date Appointed to LAF 

Chair – Ian Mabberley 16th November 2017 

 

As both a regular user of the BBNP rights of way network and a smallholder in one of the busier 

valleys within the Park, I can appreciate the pressures on the network and on the residents and 

landowners. 

I have particular interest in making access across the park an enjoyable and safe activity for legitimate 

users. I work closely in my area with the Police and Natural Resources Wales to limit illegal activities 

on the RoW network and access land. 

I’m also keen to see that large group activities are well managed and benefit where possible the Local 

Communities on which they impact. 

Membership of Organisations: 

Director: Grwyne Fawr Community Interest Company (CIC) 

Trustee/Director: Crickhowell Resource and Information Centre (CRIC) 

Member: British Cycling 

 

Deputy Chair – Colin Woodley 16th November 2017 

 

Interests relevant to the BBNP LAF: 

Farming 

Common grazing 

Cave exploration 

Industrial heritage 

Community work 

Membership of Organisations: 

Committee member of the Farmers Union of Wales 

Secretary of the Penderyn Commoners Association 

Committee Member of the British Caving Association 

Community Councillor for Ystradfellte  

Community Councillor for Hirwaun and Penderyn. 

 

Stuart France 16th November 2017 

 

I have been a Brecon Beacons National Park resident since 1985.  My leisure interests – mainly caving, 

hill walking, trail running and some mountain biking too – have been blessed with an abundance of 

local opportunities. My professional work concerns electronic counters to research visitor activity, 

particularly in the countryside, which brings me into contact with a wide range of outdoors 

professionals across the UK who manage land to which the public has access for leisure. 

There has been a good deal of uncertainty in the past few years with various Welsh Government 

consultations on access law reform here in Wales, thus possible changes in the role of LAFs:  all of 

which have come to nothing.  Different outdoors sports and pastimes, many represented amongst 

the interests of LAF members, are treated in different ways – and there is a degree of unfairness 

Page 50



  

12 
 

about that when they cause no damage nor inconvenience to other users when carried out 

responsibly. 

So I will be working for consistency, clarity and the development of responsible recreation across 

the whole activity spectrum whilst maintaining safeguards for the natural environment and the 

interests of all the people who live or work in or visit our National Park. 

 

Membership of Organisations: 

Access/Conservation Officer of the Cambrian Caving Council (CCC) since 2014. Representative of 

the CCC on the National Access Forum for Wales and the British Caving Association.  Director of 

Cave Access Ltd, a non-profit company managing underground explorer access agreements. Member 

of mountaineering and caving clubs and RSPB. 

 

Dr Paul Sinnadurai  FCIEEM 16th November 2017 

 

Paul has worked for the National Park Authority since 2000, serving as the Ecologist, Senior Ecologist 

and Policy Advisor, Conservation Manager and now Natural Resources Team Manager.  He is a 

member of the Authority’s Management Team and line manages the Rights of Way Officer Eifion 

Jones, Countryside and Access Projects Officer Richard Ball, Warden Manager Judith Harvey and 

Senior Ecologist and Climate Adaptation Advisor Dr Bradley Welch 

 

Dr Ian Jenkins 16th November 2017 

 

Ian is a tourism geographer who has specialised in areas of sustainability and adventure.  A distinctive 

area of his work has been adventure tourism and access to national parks.  In addition Ian has 

managed a number of adventure tourism courses in Wales, which involved close liaison with 

adventure companies and the issues of access to environmentally sensitive landscapes, including the 

Brecon Beacons and Pembrokeshire National Parks.  He has worked in Iceland and Switzerland on 

topics related to sustainable tourism in national parks, especially adventure tourism.  His publications 

encompass a number of books, book chapters and articles on: sustainable tourism, climate change, 

adventure tourism and health & safety management.   

 

Membership of Organisations: 

Visiting Associate Professor University of Iceland 

Previously: 

Associate Professor University of Iceland 

Research Fellow University of Nicosia 

Director of Research LRG/Glion IHE, Switzerland 

Director of Celt@s and SaiL UWTSD, Swansea 

 

Patrick Dobbs 16th November 2017 – 17th February 2019 

 

A continual user of the BBNP for recreational purposes on horseback and on foot for over 50 years. 

My main interest on the LAF is to reconcile the conflicting interests of farmers, commoners with 

those of visitors to the countryside. This will make the BBNP a pleasanter place for everyone. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



  

13 
 

Phillipa Cherryson 16th November 2017 

 

Philippa is a writer who is a keen horse rider and hill walker. A former reporter for Welsh 

newspapers and television, she now writes for UK-wide magazines and newspapers. She’s been on 

the committee of the Vale of Usk Riding Club, in Abergavenny, for more than 10 years. Philippa owns 

her own horse and is a happy hacker and British Endurance rider. Her partner is a member of 

Longtown Mountain Rescue and she helps the team with publicity and press. As a smallholder she 

also understands the concerns of landowners and is a keen conservationist. Philippa’s key interests 

are walking, horse riding and safety in the mountains. 

 

Membership of Organisations: 

Vale of Usk Riding Club, British Endurance, National Trust. 

 

Pamela Bell 16th November 2017 

 
I am a keen walker, swimmer and boater, and I enjoy these pastimes in conjunction with outdoor 

interests, including history, natural history, geology and archaeology. 

I have enjoyed living and working in the BBNP for 30 years, and currently serve as a Community 

Councillor. From first-hand experience and conversations with other residents, I understand the 

importance of access to the countryside in the area surrounding one’s home; and the problems 

caused to residents by inappropriate activity. Having grown up in an inner city area, and been a 

voluntary youth worker for many years, I also have an appreciation of the importance of wider 

countryside access to city dwellers. 

While serving on this LAF, one of my main aims will be to represent those who seek access to either 

upland or lowland areas, including water and waterside, for sustainable quiet enjoyment, recreation 

or adventure. I am concerned that the current ‘adventure tourism’ agenda in Wales places too much 

emphasis on ‘packaged adventure’ with high-profile events and promotions which are increasingly 

distanced from sustainable tourism and the original ethos of the National Parks. I would like to see 

emphasis on recognition of public rights; facilitation of access; ensuring that rights of way over land 

are kept open; proactively using opportunities provided by legislation to facilitate access to varied 

terrain and inland water, while providing factual information which allows people, local or tourist, to 

take ownership of, plan and enjoy their own sustainable outdoor experience. 

 

Membership of Organisations: 

Life member of Field Studies Council and Youth Hostels Association 

Member and occasional volunteer: Blaenavon World Heritage Environment Group (BWHEG) and 

Aberystwyth History and Archaeology Society (AHAS) 

Work Related groups include: SWOAPG; DofE Providers; Local Tourist Associations. 

Currently serve as a Community Councillor for Llanelly Parish. 

One of the founder members of Waters of Wales – WoW campaign group. 

Member of Canoe Wales and British Canoeing 

 

David Sharman 16th November 2017 

 

To improve disabled access to new and existing rights of way. Also interested in planning. 

 

Membership of Organisations: 

Member of the Vale of Grwyney Community Council 

 

Page 52



  

14 
 

Denis J Murphy 16th November 2017 

 
As a professor of Biology and university lecturer on topics such as biodiversity, biogeography, 

environmental conservation and invasive species, I have a professional interest in the natural aspects 

of our local environment and regularly bring students on field trips to the National Park area. 

As a resident and landowner in the Park and a frequent user of its many outdoor attractions and 

facilities, I have a vested interest in ensuring that it is maintained in the best possible way. I also feel 

I can make a contribution to the future of the park for the sake of the wider community, including 

residents, businesses and visitors. 

 

Membership of Organisations: 

Fellow of the Royal Society of Biology 

Member of Society for Experimental Biology 

Member of American Association for the Advancement of Science 

Managing Editor, World Agriculture 

Hilda Marion Williams 16th November 2017 

As a Community Councillor she has a great deal of interest in improved access for members of the 

public with varying abilities. 

Mr Hywel Morgan 16th November 2017 

 
Beef and sheep farmer at Esgairllaethdy, Myddfai, home of the legendary Lady of the Lake and her 

sons The Physicians of Myddfai. 

Grazing rights and active grazier on Mynydd Du Common. 

Passionate about the mountain, Llyn y fan fach and the Brecon Beacons. 

Strong believer that graziers and town and city people and tourists can work together in the National 

Park. 

As farmers we need to connect more with city people. 

A father of two children and fluent Welsh speaker. 

 

Membership of Organisations: 

Myddfai Community Councillor 

Vice Chairman and Member of Black Mountains Graziers Association 

Secretary and Member of Porwyr Myddfai Grazing association 

 

Debbie Hughes 16th November 2017 

I have lived in the Brecon Beacons National Park for 35 years. My husband and myself run a hill farm 

with mainly Welsh Mountain Sheep and a small herd of Highland cows. 

It is an iconic place to live and work and if I can make a small contribution towards preserving and 

enhancing the environment through a holistic approach that benefits both locals and visitor alike, I 

think my time will be well spent. 

My main priorities will be to highlight the need for improvement to the rhiw’s and promote the cause 

of Welsh Mountain indigenous ponies on the Black Mountains. 

 

Membership of Organisations: 

Black Mountains Graziers Association 

Welsh Pony and Cob Society 

Page 53



  

15 
 

Josie Pearson 16th November 2017 

 
I have always enjoyed exploring the countryside that the BBNP has to offer with its spectacular 

scenery. I have lived in the North East end of the park for most of my life and since becoming a 

wheelchair user I have encountered that much of the BBNP is inaccessible to wheelchair user or 

those with mobility issues. I would like to help make the BBNP more accessible to all and I’ve been 

piloting a 'Miles without Stiles' project around the town where I live. I hope that the project ethos 

can be rolled out to the rest of the BBNP in time and the knowledge I have learnt along the way can 

be transferred to wider projects in the park. 

 

Membership of Organisations: 

Councillor for Hay Town Council 

Member of the Herefordshire LAF 

 

Ruth Pickvance 16th November 2017 

• Fell and Trail Race Organiser in BBNP 

• Run Britain Race Director qualified 

• Former British Fell Champion 

• Former international level athlete 

• Director of Element: Element runs courses connected to activities, nature and the 

restorative well-being of the wilder outdoors in the National Park 

• Keen outdoor enthusiast 

• Woodland owner 

Membership of Organisations: 

• Welsh Fellrunning Association 

• Fellrunning Association 

• Mynydd Du  

• Gwent Beekeepers Association 

• Gwent Wildlife Trust 

• National Trust 

• Mountain Training Association 

Formerly: 

• Head of faculty at UWC Atlantic College 

Currently:  

• Director of Element   

• Working part time with Leadership Development Organisation Harthill Consulting 

Tracy Purnell 16th November 2017 

 
Ambassador for Ordnance Survey. 
Writes walking routes and articles for visitors to the national park. Spend most of my time walking 
or trail running within the park. Promotes dog friendly walks and responsible dog walking. 
 

Steve Rayner 16th November 2017 

 
I am a canoeist, kayaker and hillwalker – so I have a strong interest in maintaining and improving 

access to both land and water for recreation within the Brecon Beacons National Park. 

Page 54



  

16 
 

 

 

 

I undertake outdoor activity for recreation; for competition (canoe slalom and polo); as a voluntary 

coach and leader (for Brecon Canoe Club and the Scout Association); and as a part-time freelance 

instructor (working independently and for local centres) – so I have an interest in accessing land and 

water for a wide range of purposes. 

I own a grass-let farm and hold commoners’ rights near Libanus – so I also have an interest in 

protecting landowners’ interests alongside increased recreational access. 

I am the part-time Waterways & Environment Officer for Canoe Wales (the National Governing 

Body for paddle sport) and the part-time Coordinator for the South Wales Outdoor Activity 

Providers Group (representing outdoor activity businesses in South Wales) – so I have a particular 

interest in representing the views and interests of these two organisations. 

 

Membership of Organisations: 

Brecon Canoe Club (Chair & Coaching Officer). 

Canoe Wales (voluntary Chair of Canoe Wales Slalom Committee; and part-time Waterways & 

Environment Officer, giving me membership of National Access Forum Wales). 

British Mountaineering Council (individual member). 

Brecknock Area Scouts (Activity Assistant). 

South Wales Outdoor Activity Providers Group (part-time Coordinator). 

Mynydd Illtud Commoners Association. 

Toby Veall 16th November 2017 

 
BSc ( Hons)  Rural Environment Studies (Wye College, London University) 

DipEd Outdoor Education Moray House college, Edinburgh. 

Hobbies and interests included walking, climbing, canoeing, sailing, scuba diving and landscape and 

wildlife photography. 

Worked extensively abroad in Africa, mainly in Zambia and Tanzania in outdoor education, tourism 

and aquaculture, particularly the Lake Tanganyika region 

An accident in 2010 resulted in spinal cord injury and now a permanent wheelchair user. Current 

interests include disabled access to the outdoors, handbiking, photography, dog agility and writing. 

 

Chris Waterhouse 16th November 2017 

 
Trained as a geologist but served as a soldier before working for the British Horse Society.  

I live in the Brecon Beacons National Park working locally as a warden for the Ministry of Defence. 

I am also a volunteer Access and Bridleways Officer for the British Horse Society. 

 

Katherine Whitrow 16th November 2017 

 
National Farmers Union (NFU) – County Member 

Great Forest Grazier 

Beef & Sheep Farmer 

Landowner in the Brecon Beacons National Park 

Membership of Organisations: 

NFU Cymru 

 

Page 55



  

17 
 

APPENDIX V 

FURTHER READING 

LAF Annual Reports  
 

All appointing authorities are required by statute to produce annual reports to cover the year ending 

31 March. These can be obtained from the relevant LAF Secretary. Agendas, minutes and other papers 

are also available for individual LAF meetings. 

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000; The Stationary Office Limited (2000). 

 

National Assembly for Wales 

 
The Countryside Access (Local Access Forums) (Wales) Regulations 2001; The Stationary 

Office Limited (2002). 

 

 

Countryside Council for Wales 
 

LAF Guidance 1: The Establishment of Local Access Forums – Advice & Best Practice Guidance (2002). 

LAF Guidance 2: The Role Duties and Functions of Local Access Forums (2002). 

Local Access Forums in Wales Annual Report & Directory 2003 (2004). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56


	Agenda
	2 Confirmation of Minutes of 6th Meeting held on 10th January 2019 (Chairman)
	5 Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan Consultation (Eifion Jones)
	Respones to Draft ROWIP and proposed actions

	7 Annual Report (Richard Ball)

